

Review Article

A comprehensive review on the impacts of Intellectual Property Rights on the Global Agricultural Economy

Abstract:

The agricultural sector is no stranger to the importance of intellectual property, as it serves as a catalyst for innovation, facilitates the transfer of technology, and safeguards the rights of creators and inventors. By examining the effects of IPRs on various dimensions, this paper seeks to shed light on the far-reaching implications for the agricultural industry worldwide. First and foremost, the review explores the intricate relationship between IPRs and agricultural research and development. IPRs are known to provide essential incentives for scientists and researchers to engage in ground-breaking agri-scientific endeavors, leading to advancements in productivity, sustainability, and food security. By offering legal protection and rewards for their innovations, IPRs encourage investment in agricultural R&D, driving progress in crop improvement, genetics, and biotechnology. Furthermore, the review delves into the impact of IPRs on farmers' access to seeds and genetic resources. While strong intellectual property regimes ensure fair compensation for breeders and innovators, concerns arise regarding the potentially limited access to seeds, especially for small-scale farmers in developing countries. Balancing the rights of breeders and the needs of farmers becomes a crucial aspect of agricultural policy formulation, aiming for a sustainable and inclusive agricultural system. Additionally, the review scrutinizes how IPRs affect the overall competitiveness of the agricultural market. IPRs enable agricultural enterprises to gain a competitive advantage through exclusive rights over their unique plant varieties, processes, or technologies. However, the high costs associated with intellectual property protection may pose barriers for smaller farmers and agricultural communities, exacerbating inequalities within the sector. While intellectual property rights undoubtedly play a vital role in fostering agricultural innovation and protection, the review also sheds light on the challenges and controversies associated with IPRs. The potential negative impacts on small-scale farmers, the concerns surrounding access to genetic resources, and the implications for biodiversity conservation all warrant careful consideration in the formulation of IPR policies. Through a comprehensive analysis of scholarly articles, reports, and case studies, this review provides

valuable insights for policymakers, stakeholders, and researchers concerned with the multifaceted impacts of intellectual property rights on the global agricultural economy. By understanding these complexities, it becomes possible to strike a balance that maximizes the benefits of IPRs while ensuring equitable and sustainable agricultural development.

Keywords: Intellectual Property Rights, Agricultural Sector, Agricultural Industry, Agricultural Research and Biodiversity Conservation.

Introduction:

Intellectual property refers to a set of legally recognized rights that are granted to individuals or entities for their creations or inventions [1]. These rights provide exclusive control over the use, distribution, and commercial exploitation of the intellectual property [2]. Intellectual property rights serve as a means to protect and reward the creators and innovators for their work, encouraging further creativity and innovation [3]. There are two main classifications of intellectual property rights: industrial copyrights, which encompass patents, trademarks, geographical indications, and designs; and artistic copyrights, which cover literary, artistic, and musical works, performances, and broadcasts [4]. Additionally, there are also sui generis rights that fall outside these categories, such as breeder's rights [5]. The purpose of intellectual property rights is to create an environment that fosters creativity and incentivizes individuals to dedicate their time, effort, and resources to developing new ideas and creations [6]. Intellectual property rights (IPRs) have become increasingly significant in the global agricultural economy [7]. As the agricultural sector faces numerous challenges, including the need for innovation, technology transfer, and the conservation of genetic resources, the role of IPRs has come under scrutiny [8]. This comprehensive review aims to provide a comprehensive analysis of the impacts of IPRs on the global agricultural economy. The agricultural industry relies on intellectual property for multiple reasons. First and foremost, IPRs provide incentives for researchers and scientists to engage in agricultural research and development (R&D) activities [9]. By protecting intellectual property, such as new plant varieties, innovative technologies, or processes, IPRs enable researchers and developers to enjoy exclusive rights and financial rewards, encouraging investment in agricultural R&D [10]. This, in turn, drives agricultural innovation, improves productivity, and addresses key challenges like food security and sustainability [11]. However, the relationship between IPRs and the agricultural economy is complex and multifaceted [12]. While intellectual property protection offers benefits, concerns have been raised regarding its

Comment [DFOP1]: Your introduction is well structured with a consistent flow of information; however, I have a few suggestion which I have added to improve it further

Comment [DFOP2]: This is a very long paragraph! Reading through this section, I can get three to four clear themes. 1. Significance and Purpose of IPRs in Agriculture 2. Complex Relationship Between IPRs and Agricultural Economy 3. Challenges and Controversies Surrounding IPRs in Agriculture. to ensure its effectiveness, consider splitting this paragraphs into these three themes and extensively covering each under individual paragraphs.

potential impact on farmers' access to seeds and genetic resources [13]. As IPRs provide exclusive rights to breeders and innovators, it may limit the availability and affordability of seeds, especially for small-scale farmers, in developing countries [14]. The challenge lies in finding a balance that respects the rights of breeders while ensuring access to genetic resources for farmers who play a crucial role in agricultural production [15]. Moreover, the competitive dynamics within the agricultural market are influenced by the presence of IPRs [16]. Intellectual property protection allows agricultural enterprises to gain a competitive edge by maintaining monopoly rights over their creations [17]. However, this can also create barriers to entry for smaller farmers and agricultural communities, widening the gap between large-scale and small-scale players, and potentially intensifying inequalities within the sector. The review also explores the challenges and controversies surrounding IPRs in agriculture. Questions arise regarding the potential negative effects on small-scale farmers, particularly in terms of affordability, sustainability, and involvement in innovation processes. Additionally, concerns are raised regarding the impact of IPRs on access to genetic resources, the implications for biodiversity conservation, and the social and economic consequences at the local and global levels. By examining a variety of sources, such as scholarly articles, reports, and case studies, this comprehensive review aims to provide valuable insights for policymakers, stakeholders, and researchers interested in understanding the far-reaching impacts of intellectual property rights on the global agricultural economy [18]. Ultimately, it seeks to strike a balance that promotes agricultural innovation, ensures equitable access to genetic resources, and supports sustainable development in the agriculture sector.

Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) have become a defining force in shaping the dynamics of innovation, trade, and economic development in the 21st century [19]. These legal mechanisms, which grant exclusive rights to creators and inventors over their intellectual creations, are omnipresent across various industries [20]. However, in a few domains, are the consequences and implications of IPRs as multifaceted and far-reaching as in the realm of agriculture. The global agricultural economy stands as an arena where IPRs wield significant influence, challenging traditional paradigms while fostering innovation and economic growth [21]. Agriculture, as the bedrock of human sustenance and economic activity, has undergone profound transformations in recent decades [22]. These transformations have been driven, in part, by the ever-expanding reach of intellectual property protections into the fields, laboratories, and markets where food and agricultural products are produced, developed, and traded [23]. This comprehensive review seeks to

Comment [DFOP3]: Split this into two clear paragraphs it is too long!

unravel the intricate web of interactions between Intellectual Property Rights and the global agricultural economy. It delves into the historical evolution of IPRs in agriculture, ranging from early patent laws to the international harmonization efforts under the Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) Agreement [24]. It explores the various types of IPRs applicable to agriculture, including Plant Breeders' Rights, patents, trade secrets, copyrights, and trademarks, dissecting their roles and limitations in shaping agricultural innovation and trade [25]. Furthermore, this review critically assesses the impact of IPRs on agricultural innovation, with a focus on their potential to spur research and development, attract private investment, and drive technological advancements. Simultaneously, it scrutinizes the criticisms and challenges that arise from IPRs, including concerns related to monopoly power, market concentration, and their implications for global food security and smallholder farmers. The nexus between IPRs and global agricultural trade is another pivotal dimension explored here [26]. The review investigates how international trade agreements have intertwined with IPRs, shaping access to genetic resources, fostering trade disputes, and affecting the international flow of agricultural goods. Case studies of trade conflicts linked to IPRs in agriculture are examined to illustrate the real-world implications of these legal frameworks.

Historical Evolution of IPRs in Agriculture

A. Early developments and patent laws:

The historical evolution of intellectual property rights (IPRs) in agriculture dates back to early developments in patent laws [27]. Early patent laws primarily focused on protecting inventions related to machinery, processes, and industrial applications. However, they did not specifically address agricultural innovations.

B. The Green Revolution and plant breeding rights:

The Green Revolution marked a significant turning point in agricultural IPRs. With advancements in agricultural science and technology, particularly in plant breeding, the need for protecting plant varieties emerged [28]. This led to the introduction of plant breeding rights and the establishment of seed laws to safeguard the efforts and investments of plant breeders.

C. TRIPS Agreement and international harmonization:

Comment [DFOP4]: the Plant Patent Act of 1930 (United States), UPOV Convention (International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants) can also fit in here well. Then other than having these subsections I suggest you collapse them and expound in each of them to constitute distinct paragraphs. This will be much better other than these very small sub sections. Alternatively, consider expanding the information under the current sub sections

Comment [DFOP5]: To enrich this section consider addressing

- 1.How did the Green Revolution's adoption of high-yielding crop varieties drive the necessity for protecting these varieties under intellectual property rights?
- 2.What were the worldwide implications of the Green Revolution's advancements in agriculture, particularly concerning different countries' responses and implementation of plant breeding rights or seed laws?
- 3.How did the introduction of plant breeding rights impact seed access for farmers, the role of multinational corporations, agricultural biodiversity, and traditional farming practices?

The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) played a critical role in international harmonization of IPRs, including those related to agriculture [29]. TRIPS required member countries to provide protection for plant varieties either through patents or through an effective sui generis system [30].

D. Contemporary trends in agricultural IPRs:

Contemporary trends in agricultural IPRs include the development and utilization of various mechanisms such as plant patents, plant variety protection, patents on biotechnological inventions, and the use of geographical indications and trademarks to protect agricultural products [31]. These trends reflect the ongoing efforts to balance the interest of innovators and the need for access to genetic resources and traditional knowledge in agriculture.

IPR in Agriculture

The protection of intellectual property rights in the agricultural sector is crucial for safeguarding the goods and services created within the industry [32]. Several forms of intellectual property rights are applicable in agriculture, including patents, geographic indications, plant breeder's rights, trademarks, and trade secrets [33]. Patents, in particular, play a significant role in providing assurance and protection for patentable plants, animals, and biotechnological processes. In India, the Protection of Plant Varieties and Farmers' Rights Act of 2001 ensures the protection of plant varieties and crops [34]. This legislation aims to encourage the development of new plant varieties and grants rights to the owner to control or prevent the use of their licensed innovation by external parties [35]. However, it is important to note that the exercise of these rights can only occur after public disclosure of the patent document. The publication of these documents facilitates further research and development by other individuals or organizations, leading to advancements in the agricultural sector [36].

The Application of IPRs in Agriculture

The application of Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) in agriculture has seen a significant expansion in recent years [37]. It now includes various innovations and resources that are crucial to farming and food production. This expansion covers areas such as plant varieties, biotechnology, and genetic resources. These aspects of agriculture are now subject to intellectual property protection, allowing individuals or entities to have exclusive rights over their use and commercialization. This expansion of IPRs in agriculture has raised important

Comment [DFOP6]: To further add make review on TRIPS more exhaustive I suggest you consider incorporating review on;

1. How TRIPS Agreement impacted agricultural innovation globally.
2. Expound on the extent to which it incentivized or hindered research and development in the agricultural sector, considering its influence on access to genetic resources and the development of new plant varieties.
3. How did different countries implement TRIPS requirements with regard to plant variety protection?
4. Were there controversies or challenges that characterized implementation of TRIPS in agriculture?

discussions and debates regarding access to genetic resources, farmer rights, and the overall sustainability of agricultural practices [38].

A. The application of IPRs in agriculture has expanded to include various innovations and resources related to farming and food production [39]. This includes plant varieties, biotechnology, and genetic resources.

B. Examples of IPRs in agriculture include plant breeders' rights, which grant exclusive control over new plant varieties; patents that protect biotechnological advancements such as genetically modified crops or agricultural processes; and trade secrets that safeguard proprietary information related to agricultural innovations [40].

What is Intellectual property rights (IPR)?

Intellectual property rights (IPR) are defined as the ideas, inventions, and creative expressions that are granted the status of property by society [41]. These rights provide exclusive benefits and protections to creators and inventors, allowing them to profit from their innovative work [42]. IPR play a crucial role in technology development, transfer, and dissemination [43]. The main objective of intellectual property rights is to incentivize innovation by promoting the protection and utilization of inventions and creative works [44]. This helps foster the growth of industries, promote technological advancements, and facilitate the transfer and dissemination of technology. Protecting IPR is crucial for any industry as it provides a foundation for progress and innovation. Intellectual property protection is necessary to encourage investment in research and development, and it is especially important for bringing new innovations to farmers and other sectors [45]. The Trade-Related Intellectual Property Systems (TRIPS) Agreement, established by the World Trade Organization (WTO), plays a significant role in shaping and defining the importance of intellectual property rights [46]. The TRIPS Agreement, which came into effect on January 1, 1995, is considered the most comprehensive multilateral agreement on intellectual property to date [47]. It encompasses various forms of intellectual property and sets standards for protection, enforcement, acquisition, and maintenance at both national and international levels [48]. It also addresses the applicability of general principles from the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and provisions in other international agreements on intellectual property.

Type of intellectual property right and its application:

Comment [DFOP7]: This is already covered under the introduction putting it here is more of redundancy! To avoid redundancy, ensure that the information provided here complements the broader discussion presented in the introduction rather than replicating it. Or remove them from the introduction section, given that you have given more details to them here. Further, by maintaining them here and removing from introduction, you will have ensured coherence without repeating the same information

(i) Copyright

Copyright laws generally protect a wide range of creative works, including literary works, musical works, art, maps, technical drawings, photographs, motion pictures, computer programs, and multimedia products [49]. These laws grant exclusive rights to the author or creator of an original work, such as the right to copy, distribute, and adapt the work [50]. It's important to note that copyright protection extends to the expression of ideas, rather than the ideas themselves. The duration of copyright protection can vary, but for literary works, it typically lasts for the author's life plus sixty years [51]. However, it's important to consult specific national laws for precise details and variations in copyright protection.

Comment [DFOP8]: This is good but consider improving its review by answering the following questions

1. How do copyright laws specifically govern agricultural works, publications, or innovations, such as agricultural manuals, guides, or farming software, ensuring protection and regulation within the agricultural domain?
2. How do digital resources like computer programs or online platforms contribute to agricultural practices, and how are copyright laws involved in governing the creation and distribution of these digital resources within the agricultural sphere?

(ii) Patent

Patents play a significant role in protecting and encouraging technological innovation [52]. In India, the first patent laws were introduced in 1856, and since then, they have been modified and updated to align with international standards, such as the TRIPS agreement [53]. The Indian Patent Act of 1970 underwent several amendments, with the most recent in 2005 [54]. Patents grant exclusive rights and legal protection to inventors for their new inventions, whether it be a new process or product [55]. This system promotes the development of industries and technological innovation by incentivizing the protection and utilization of inventions. Patents provide inventors with property rights and the ability to prevent others from commercializing their invention without permission [56]. It's important to note that patent rights are territorial in nature, meaning a patent obtained in one country is not enforceable in another. Applicants or inventors must file separate patent applications in different countries to obtain protection in those jurisdictions. The process of obtaining a patent involves filing an application with the regional or national Patent Office, accompanied by a description of the invention and a comparison with existing ones [57]. The duration of a patent is generally 20 years from the filing date of the patent application [58]. During this time, the patent holder has the exclusive right to prevent others from making, using, selling, offering for sale, or importing the patented invention without permission. Timely examination requests are necessary, and claims can relate to a single invention or group of inventions forming a single inventive concept.

Comment [DFOP9]: To improve on this aspect consider this question

1. How pivotal is the role of patents in driving agricultural innovation, and could you provide examples of patented agricultural technologies, processes, or genetically modified organisms (GMOs) that have significantly impacted and transformed farming practices?
2. How are patent laws enforced within the agricultural sector?
3. Can you highlight instances where patent infringement cases have impacted agricultural innovation or practices?

Integrating these agricultural-specific dimensions could render the review of patents more comprehensive and aligned with the industry's distinct nuances and challenges

There are several types of patent applications that can be filed:

a) Ordinary Application: This is the standard application for a patent where the applicant seeks protection for their invention [59].

Comment [DFOP10]: To convincingly review these applications within the context of agricultural impacts, consider linking each type of application to specific examples or scenarios within the agricultural sector. Highlight how these application types have influenced agricultural innovation, technology dissemination, or global trade in agricultural products. By connecting these patent application types to tangible agricultural cases or their influence on agricultural practices, the review can better illustrate their significance within the agricultural economy

b) Application for Patent of Addition: This type of application is filed for an improvement or modification of an already patented invention [60]. It allows the applicant to add new features or enhancements to the existing patent and receive protection for the unexpired term of the main patent.

c) Divisional Application: If the main patent application discloses multiple inventions, a divisional application can be filed to separate out and pursue protection for each individual invention [61]. This allows for more focused examination and separate claims.

d) Convention Application: This application is filed when seeking to claim priority based on a previously filed application in a Convention Country [62]. It allows the applicant to secure a priority date for their invention from the date of the earlier filing.

e) National Phase Application under PCT: The Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) allows for the filing of an international patent application [63]. After the international phase, the applicant has the option to enter the national phase in various countries/regions. This involves filing a national phase application in each desired country/region to pursue patent protection.

(iii) Trademarks

Trademarks are indeed important for businesses to differentiate their goods or services from others in the market [64]. They can consist of various elements like words, letters, numerals, drawings, colors, pictures, shapes, logotypes, or labels [65]. There are several advantages to having a trademark. Firstly, it allows customers to easily identify and distinguish a product or service from one manufacturer or provider compared to others. Additionally, a trademark can be a powerful marketing tool, helping to attract customers and build a positive image and reputation for a company. Proper use of a trademark can also help in gaining customer goodwill. Trademarks also provide an incentive for companies to uphold the quality of their products or services. By investing in maintaining or improving quality, companies can protect and enhance the reputation associated with their trademark. Trademark protection is important as it prevents fraudulent use of a mark by others, ensuring that businesses maintain their distinctive identity [66]. Trademarks are generally valid for 10 years, after which renewal is required to continue their protection [67]. As examples, the label 'PUSA' by IARI in New Delhi, 'KNOCK WP' (formulation) by DOR in Hyderabad, and 'CIFAX,' an antibiotic formulation for use in fisheries and aquaculture, are all used as trademarks to distinguish and promote specific products or services in their respective fields.

(iv) Design

Industrial design refers specifically to the aesthetic aspects or outward appearance of a product [68]. It encompasses a wide range of industries and products, including technical and medical instruments, luxury items like watches and jewelry, household products, furniture, electrical appliances, cars, architectural structures, textile designs, sports equipment, and even product packaging and containers [69]. Protecting industrial designs is crucial for businesses as these designs are valuable assets that can increase the commercial value of a company [70]. An effective industrial design can contribute to the successful marketing of products and help to define the brand image of a company [71]. Furthermore, protecting an industrial design provides additional opportunities for revenue generation. Companies can license out the right to use their registered designs to others for a fee [72]. They can also sell the registered design rights to interested parties. The protection period for industrial designs is typically 10 years, with the possibility of renewal after every 5 years to maintain the exclusive rights over the design [73].

(v) Geographical Indications (GI)

Geographical indications (GIs) are a form of intellectual property rights that cover agricultural, natural, and manufactured goods [74]. They are not related to ownership or usership interests of ICAR but can have broader significance. GIs are associated with specific geographical locations and represent a link between goods and their place of production [75]. Well-known examples include Champagne, Tequila, Darjeeling, Roquefort, Pilsen, Porto, Sheffield, and Havana. Similar to trademarks, GIs are used in product marketing and can be represented in various forms such as words, figures, graphics, and diagrams. However, GIs govern collective rights rather than individual rights. The registration of geographical indications provides protection against unauthorized use and promotes the economic prosperity of the producers [76]. It also enables seeking legal protection in other member countries of the World Trade Organization (WTO). Unlike some other intellectual property rights, the protection period for geographical indications is unlimited, with renewal required every ten years. This ensures the ongoing safeguarding of GIs and their associated cultural and economic value.

(vi) Trade secrets: Trade secrets are confidential business information that provides a competitive advantage to a company [77]. It could include formulas, processes, customer

lists, or any other valuable information. Unlike patents, trade secrets are protected without registration and rely on keeping the information confidential.

(vii) Protection of plant varieties and farmers' rights: This type of intellectual property protection recognizes the contributions of farmers and traditional communities to agrobiodiversity [78]. It aims to reward and support the development of new plant varieties while safeguarding the rights and interests of farmers.

(viii) Protection of Biological Diversity: The Biological Diversity Act covers issues related to traditional knowledge and associated knowledge in the context of conserving biological resources [79]. It recognizes the contributions and rights of traditional knowledge holders and aims to ensure fair and equitable sharing of benefits derived from biological resources.

Governing Regulations

In India, intellectual property rights are governed by various Acts. These include:

Table 1: Governing Regulations of Intellectual Property Rights

Act	Key Provisions	References
Copyright Act, 1957	Grants creators exclusive rights over their original works, such as literary, artistic, musical, and dramatic works.	[80]
Patents Act, 1970	Grants inventors exclusive rights over their inventions for a limited period, during which they can prevent others from using, making, or selling their patented invention without authorization.	[81]
Trademarks Act, 1999	Allows individuals and businesses to register distinctive signs, logos, or symbols to differentiate their goods or services from others in the market.	[82]
Designs Act, 2000	Provides protection for the aesthetic features of an industrial design. It enables creators to register and protect the visual appearance of their products, such as shapes, patterns, and ornamentation, giving them exclusive rights to their unique designs.	[83]
Geographical	Grants protection to goods that have specific	[84]

Comment [DFOP11]: Focusing solely on the regulations and acts directly impacting intellectual property rights within agriculture will make the review more concise and aligned with its intended scope.

Indications of Goods (Registration and Protection) Act, 1999	geographical origins and possess qualities or reputation attributable to that place of origin.	
Protection of Plant Varieties and Farmer's Rights Act, 2001	Provides intellectual property protection to plant varieties. It enables breeders to register and protect new plant varieties, and it also recognizes and protects the rights of farmers in relation to their contributions to the development and conservation of plant genetic resources.	[85]

Intellectual Property Management

Intellectual Property Management plays a crucial role in various aspects of innovation and knowledge creation [86]. It provides scientists and innovators with an inherent incentive to engage in the generation of new ideas and products. Moreover, it ensures that they receive greater professional recognition for their contributions. One significant benefit of IP management is the sharing of monetary incentives among staff [87]. By rewarding individuals for their intellectual property, organizations can motivate their employees to contribute to the development of innovative technologies and advancements [88]. This, in turn, leads to faster technological progress and a more dynamic industry. IP management also safeguards the protection of public sector research. It ensures that the valuable knowledge generated in public institutions remains secure and can be used to benefit society. Furthermore, it guarantees the availability of genuine and original products, allowing consumers to access high-quality goods. Another advantage of IP management is the improvement in the rate of adoption of technology. By providing material rewards for intellectual property, it encourages individuals and organizations to invest in research and development, leading to the creation and dissemination of new technologies [89]. Moreover, IP management provides protection for plant varieties. The TRIPs Article 27.3(b) allows for the provision of Plant Variety Protection, which safeguards the interests of plant breeders and encourages innovation in agriculture [90]. Additionally, the commercialization of intellectual property enables technologies through public-private partnerships. It allows organizations to leverage resources and expertise from both sectors, leading to the development and deployment of innovative solutions.

Comment [DFOP12]: The review on Intellectual Property Management lacks a direct focus on agriculture which is the focus of this review. It needs examples showcasing how IP management specifically drives innovation, research, and technology transfer in farming practices. Aligning it with agricultural instances would better highlight IP management's role in the agricultural industry.

IPRs and Global Agricultural Trade

Comment [DFOP13]: From here down word, the review is focused unlike before this section

A. International trade agreements and IPRs:

International trade agreements, such as the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement), have had a significant impact on intellectual property rights (IPRs) in the context of global agricultural trade [91]. These agreements promote the protection and enforcement of IPRs, including those related to agriculture, with the aim of fostering innovation, fair competition, and economic growth.

B. Effects on access to genetic resources:

The implementation of IPRs in agriculture can have implications for access to genetic resources [92]. IPRs may restrict access to proprietary plant varieties or technologies, potentially affecting the ability of certain countries or farmers to utilize genetic resources for crop production and breeding [93]. This has led to debates regarding the equitable sharing of benefits arising from the use of genetic resources.

C. Trade disputes and their resolution:

IPR-related trade disputes can arise when countries have differing interpretations or implementation of IPR obligations [94]. These disputes may involve allegations of patent infringements, unfair competition, or market access barriers [95]. They can be resolved through negotiation, mediation, or through the dispute settlement mechanisms provided by international trade agreements, such as the World Trade Organization (WTO).

D. Case studies of IPR-related trade conflicts:

There have been various case studies of IPR-related trade conflicts in agriculture [96]. These include disputes over seed patents, genetically modified organisms (GMOs), plant varieties, and food products [97]. Examples include the U.S.-European Union dispute on genetically modified crops, the India-U.S. conflict on pharmaceutical patents, and the EU's stance on geographical indications for food products.

Impacts of Intellectual Property Rights on the Global Agricultural Economy

Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) play a significant role in shaping the global agricultural economy. While they seek to protect and incentivize innovation, their impacts can be complex and multifaceted. Here are some key details on the impacts of IPRs on the global agricultural economy:

1. Encourages innovation: IPRs, such as patents and plant variety protection, provide a legal framework that grants exclusive rights to inventors and developers of new agricultural technologies, products, and plant varieties [98]. These protections encourage investment in research and development, driving innovation in the agricultural sector [99]. By protecting intellectual property, IPRs offer incentives for scientists, companies, and farmers to develop and adopt new technologies and improved crop varieties.

2. Promotes modernization: IPRs facilitate technology transfer, enabling the diffusion of advanced agricultural tools and techniques across countries [100]. This promotes the modernization of agricultural practices and the adoption of more efficient and sustainable farming methods. The ability to protect intellectual property fosters collaboration between different stakeholders, leading to increased agricultural productivity and competitiveness on a global scale [101].

3. Enhances agricultural productivity: IPRs provide incentives for the development of improved crop varieties with enhanced traits such as disease resistance, drought tolerance, or higher yields [102]. Farmers gain access to these improved seeds, which can significantly enhance agricultural productivity. By protecting the investments made in research and development, IPRs ensure a steady supply of high-quality seeds and promote the adoption of improved agricultural practices, leading to increased yields and enhanced food security [103].

4. Facilitates market access: Intellectual property protection helps create a favorable environment for agricultural trade [104]. It encourages investment in quality control systems, promotes branding, and facilitates market access by ensuring that products meet specific standards and regulations. This promotes trust among trading partners and enhances the exchange of agricultural goods globally, ultimately contributing to economic growth.

5. Challenges for small-scale farmers: IPRs can pose challenges for small-scale farmers in developing countries [105]. By granting exclusive rights to patented technologies or protected plant varieties, access to these innovations may become limited or subject to high licensing fees, particularly when controlled by multinational corporations [106]. This can result in inequalities, as small farmers may struggle to afford or access modern agricultural technologies, hindering their productivity and competitiveness in a globalized market.

6. Balancing public interest: Striking a balance between protecting intellectual property and ensuring access to affordable technologies and seeds for farmers, especially in developing countries, remains a critical challenge [107]. Governments and international organizations

work to develop policies and frameworks that safeguard intellectual property rights while also considering the public interest and the need for equitable access to innovations necessary for sustainable agricultural development [108].

Positive Impacts of IPRs on the Global Agricultural Economy

- IPRs serve as incentives for innovation and technological advancements in agriculture [109]. By granting exclusive rights to inventors and creators, IPRs encourage them to develop new and improved agricultural technologies, methods, and products.
- IPRs promote investment in research and development within the agricultural sector [110]. The protection offered by IPRs ensures that innovators and companies can recoup their investment and secure returns, which incentivizes increased funding for agricultural research and development.
- IPRs facilitate the commercialization of agricultural innovations by offering legal protection and market exclusivity [111]. This allows innovators and companies to monetize their inventions and technologies, leading to increased dissemination of these advancements in the agricultural sector.
- IPRs can contribute to enhancing agricultural productivity and efficiency. By encouraging and protecting innovation, IPRs enable the adoption of new technologies and practices that can improve agricultural processes, increase yields, and optimize resource utilization [112]. These advancements can ultimately benefit the global agricultural economy by generating higher productivity and more sustainable practices.

Negative Impacts of IPRs on the Global Agricultural Economy

- One concern is that IPRs can restrict access to genetic resources and traditional knowledge [113]. This can limit the ability of farmers and communities to freely access and use genetic materials for breeding and traditional farming practices.
- IPRs can also limit farmers' rights and impede traditional farming practices [114]. The enforcement of IPRs may restrict farmers from saving seeds, practicing seed exchange, or engaging in other customary agricultural activities, leading to a loss of agricultural diversity and cultural practices [115].
- Another negative impact of IPRs is the potential increase in costs and reduced affordability of agricultural technologies [116]. Exclusive rights granted by IPRs can result in higher prices for patented seeds, biotechnological advancements, and other

agricultural innovations, making them less accessible for small-scale farmers with limited resources.

- IPRs can contribute to the concentration of power and market control in the hands of a few large corporations [117]. This can create barriers to entry for smaller players, limit competition, and result in monopolistic practices that disadvantage smaller farmers and hinder agricultural development.

Conclusion:

Intellectual property has emerged as a crucial aspect in the agricultural sector, as it provides incentives for innovation, promotes technology transfer, and safeguards the rights of creators and inventors. This article analyzes the effects of IPRs on agricultural research and development, farmers' access to seeds and genetic resources, and the overall competitiveness of the agricultural market. Additionally, it discusses the challenges and controversies associated with IPRs, such as potential negative effects on small-scale farmers and concerns regarding biodiversity conservation. Through a systematic analysis of scholarly articles, reports, and case studies, this review aims to shed light on the intricate relationship between intellectual property rights and the global agricultural economy, ultimately providing insights for policymakers, stakeholders, and researchers alike.

References

1. Drahos, P. (1999). The universality of intellectual property rights: origins and development. *Intellectual property and human rights*, 13-41.
2. Dratler Jr, J., & McJohn, S. M. (2023). *Intellectual property law: Commercial, creative and industrial property*. Law Journal Press.
3. Silbey, J. (2014). *The eureka myth: Creators, innovators, and everyday intellectual property*. Stanford University Press.
4. Kanagavel, P. (2003). Intellectual property rights: A comprehensive overview. *J. Pat. & Trademark Off. Soc'y*, 85, 663.
5. Leskien, D., & Flitner, M. (1997). *Intellectual property rights and plant genetic resources: options for a sui generis system* (No. 6). Bioversity International.
6. Bican, P. M., Guderian, C. C., & Ringbeck, A. (2017). Managing knowledge in open innovation processes: an intellectual property perspective. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(6), 1384-1405.

7. Campi, M., & Dueñas, M. (2016). Intellectual property rights and international trade of agricultural products. *World Development*, 80, 1-18.
8. Lawson, C., & Adhikari, K. (2018). *Biodiversity, genetic resources and intellectual property* (pp. 1-8). Routledge.
9. Pal, S. (2017). Agricultural R&D policy in India. *ICAR-National Institute of Agricultural Economics and Policy Research*.
10. Smith, S. (2019). The foundations, continuing evolution, and outcomes from the application of intellectual property protection in plant breeding and agriculture. *Plant breeding reviews*, 43, 121-213.
11. Beddington, J. R., Asaduzzaman, M., Fernandez, A., Clark, M. E., Guillou, M., Jahn, M. M., ... & Wakhungu, J. W. (2012). Achieving food security in the face of climate change: Final report from the Commission on Sustainable Agriculture and Climate Change.
12. Marie-Vivien, D., & Biénabe, E. (2017). The multifaceted role of the state in the protection of geographical indications: A worldwide review. *World development*, 98, 1-11.
13. Dutfield, G. (2010). *Intellectual property, biogenetic resources and traditional knowledge*. Earthscan.
14. Kuyek, D. (2002). Intellectual property rights in African agriculture: implications for small farmers. *GRAIN Briefing*.
15. Salazar, R., Louwaars, N. P., & Visser, B. (2007). Protecting farmers' new varieties: new approaches to rights on collective innovations in plant genetic resources. *World Development*, 35(9), 1515-1528.
16. Yang, C. H., & Woo, R. J. (2006). Do stronger intellectual property rights induce more agricultural trade?: a dynamic panel data model applied to seed trade. *Agricultural economics*, 35(1), 91-101.
17. Rapp, R. T., & Rozek, R. P. (1990). Benefits and costs of intellectual property protection in developing countries. *J. World Trade*, 24, 75.
18. Ceulemans, K., Molderez, I., & Van Liedekerke, L. (2015). Sustainability reporting in higher education: a comprehensive review of the recent literature and paths for further research. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 106, 127-143.
19. Mashelkar, R., & Alikhan, S. (2009). Intellectual property and competitive strategies in 21st century. *Intellectual Property and Competitive Strategies in 21st Century*, 1-238.

20. Aoki, K. (2006). Distributive and syncretic motives in intellectual property law (with special reference to coercion, agency, and development). *UC Davis L. Rev.*, 40, 717.
21. Lei, T., & Xie, P. (2023). Fostering enterprise innovation: The impact of China's pilot free trade zones. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 1-30.
22. Jones, L. A., & Osterud, N. G. (1989). Breaking new ground: Oral history and agricultural history. *The Journal of American History*, 76(2), 551-564.
23. Rhoten, D., & Powell, W. W. (2007). The frontiers of intellectual property: Expanded protection versus new models of open science. *Annu. Rev. Law Soc. Sci.*, 3, 345-373.
24. Kochhar, S. (2008). Institutions and capacity building for the evolution of intellectual property rights regime in India: V-analysis of review of TRIPS agreement and R&D Prospect in Indian agriculture under IPR regime.
25. Kumar, V., & Sinha, K. (2015). Status and challenges of intellectual property rights in agriculture innovation in India.
26. Wiebe, K., Lotze-Campen, H., Sands, R., Tabeau, A., van der Mensbrugghe, D., Biewald, A., ... & Willenbockel, D. (2015). Climate change impacts on agriculture in 2050 under a range of plausible socioeconomic and emissions scenarios. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(8), 085010.
27. Louwaars, N., De Jonge, B., & Munyi, P. (2013). Intellectual property rights in the plant sciences and development goals in agriculture: An historical perspective. *Knowledge management and intellectual property. Concepts, actors and practices from the past to the present*, 252-272.
28. Tester, M., & Langridge, P. (2010). Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. *Science*, 327(5967), 818-822.
29. Cottier, T. (2005). The agreement on trade-related aspects of intellectual property rights. In *The World Trade Organization: legal, economic and political analysis* (pp. 1041-1120). Boston, MA: Springer US.
30. Leskien, D., & Flitner, M. (1997). *Intellectual property rights and plant genetic resources: options for a sui generis system* (No. 6). Bioversity International.
31. Prasad, R., Bagde, U. S., & Varma, A. (2012). An overview of intellectual property rights in relation to agricultural biotechnology. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(73), 13476-13752.
32. Rapp, R. T., & Rozek, R. P. (1990). Benefits and costs of intellectual property protection in developing countries. *J. World Trade*, 24, 75.

33. Blakeney, M. (2011). Trends in Intellectual Property Rights relating to genetic resources for food and agriculture.
34. Brahmi, P., Saxena, S., & Dhillon, B. S. (2004). The protection of plant varieties and farmers' rights act of India. *Current Science*, 86(3), 392-398.
35. Gepts, P. (2004). Who owns biodiversity, and how should the owners be compensated?. *Plant physiology*, 134(4), 1295-1307.
36. Altieri, M. A. (1989). Agroecology: A new research and development paradigm for world agriculture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 27(1-4), 37-46.
37. Campi, M., & Nuvolari, A. (2021). Intellectual property rights and agricultural development: Evidence from a worldwide index of IPRs in agriculture (1961-2018). *The Journal of Development Studies*, 57(4), 650-668.
38. Oguamanam, C. (2014). Farmers' rights and the intellectual property dynamic in agriculture. *The Sage handbook of intellectual property*, 238-257.
39. Delmer, D. P., Nottenburg, C., Graff, G. D., & Bennett, A. B. (2003). Intellectual property resources for international development in agriculture. *Plant Physiology*, 133(4), 1666-1670.
40. Smith, S. (2019). The foundations, continuing evolution, and outcomes from the application of intellectual property protection in plant breeding and agriculture. *Plant breeding reviews*, 43, 121-213.
41. Sharma, D. K. (2014). Intellectual property and the need to protect it. *Indian J. Sci. Res*, 9(1), 084-087.
42. Sharma, D. K. (2014). Intellectual property and the need to protect it. *Indian J. Sci. Res*, 9(1), 084-087.
43. Falvey, R. E., Foster, N., & Memedovic, O. (2006). *The role of intellectual property rights in technology transfer and economic growth: theory and evidence*. Geneva: UNIDO.
44. Gallini, N., & Scotchmer, S. (2002). Intellectual property: when is it the best incentive system?. *Innovation policy and the economy*, 2, 51-77.
45. Rapp, R. T., & Rozek, R. P. (1990). Benefits and costs of intellectual property protection in developing countries. *J. World Trade*, 24, 75.
46. Kassor, A. B. (2018). The world trade organization's trade related aspects of intellectual property rights (TRIPS) agreement: The compelling challenges for developing and less developed member countries-implementation and enforcement. *CybarisIntell. Prop. L. Rev.*, 9, 107.

47. Matthews, D. (2003). *Globalising intellectual property rights: the TRIPS Agreement*. Routledge.
48. Seuba, X. (2017). *The global regime for the enforcement of intellectual property rights*. Cambridge University Press.
49. Gorman, R. A. (1963). Copyright protection for the collection and representation of facts. *Harvard Law Review*, 1569-1605.
50. Ginsburg, J. C. (2016). Overview of Copyright Law. *Forthcoming, Oxford Handbook of Intellectual Property*, Rochelle Dreyfuss & Justine Pila, Eds., *Columbia Public Law Research Paper*, (14-518).
51. Chafee Jr, Z. (1945). Reflections on the Law of Copyright: II. *Colum. L. Rev.*, 45, 719.
52. Encaoua, D., Guellec, D., & Martínez, C. (2006). Patent systems for encouraging innovation: Lessons from economic analysis. *Research policy*, 35(9), 1423-1440.
53. Drahos, P. (2002). Developing countries and international intellectual property standard-setting. *J. World Intell. Prop.*, 5, 765.
54. Ganguli, P. (1999). Towards TRIPs compliance in India: the patents amendment act 1999 and implications. *World Patent Information*, 21(4), 279-287.
55. Eisenberg, R. S. (1989). Patents and the progress of science: Exclusive rights and experimental use. *The University of Chicago Law Review*, 56(3), 1017-1086.
56. Kieff, F. S. (2000). Property rights and property rules for commercializing inventions. *Minn. L. Rev.*, 85, 697.
57. Van Zeebroeck, N., de la Potterie, B. V. P., & Guellec, D. (2009). Claiming more: the increased voluminosity of patent applications and its determinants. *Research Policy*, 38(6), 1006-1020.
58. Dunn, M. K. (2011). Timing of patent filing and market exclusivity. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 10(7), 487.
59. Schwartz, H. F. (1988). *Patent Law and Practice* (Vol. 88, No. 1). Federal Judicial Center.
60. Meurer, M. J., & Nard, C. A. (2004). Invention, Refinement and Patent Claim Scope: A New Perspective on the Doctrine of Equivalents. *Geo. LJ*, 93, 1947.
61. Van Zeebroeck, N., de la Potterie, B. V. P., & Guellec, D. (2009). Claiming more: the increased voluminosity of patent applications and its determinants. *Research Policy*, 38(6), 1006-1020.

62. Straus, J. (2019). The Right to Priority in Article 4A (1) of the Paris Convention and Article 87 (1) of the European Patent Convention. *Journal of Intellectual Property Law & Practice*, 14(9), 687-698.
63. Nepelski, D., & De Prato, G. (2013). Does the Patent Cooperation Treaty work? A global analysis of patent applications by non-residents.
64. Millot, V. (2009). Trademarks as an indicator of product and marketing innovations.
65. Samporno, M. N., Saadah, M., & Hardi, S. P. (2022). Semiotics analysis toward Indonesian halal logo. *International Journal Mathla'ul Anwar of Halal Issues*, 2(2), 11-17.
66. Klieger, R. N. (1996). Trademark Dilution: The Whitling Away of the Rational Basis for Trademark Protection. *U. Pitt. L. Rev.*, 58, 789.
67. Nasirov, S. (2020). Trademark value indicators: Evidence from the trademark protection lifecycle in the US pharmaceutical industry. *Research Policy*, 49(4), 103929.
68. Hekkert, P., Snelders, D., & Van Wieringen, P. C. (2003). 'Most advanced, yet acceptable': Typicality and novelty as joint predictors of aesthetic preference in industrial design. *British journal of Psychology*, 94(1), 111-124.
69. Chakraborty, S., & Biswas, M. C. (2020). 3D printing technology of polymer-fiber composites in textile and fashion industry: A potential roadmap of concept to consumer. *Composite Structures*, 248, 112562.
70. Samoylov, V. (2020). Protecting the Industrial Designs of Today and the Future.
71. Gemser, G., & Leenders, M. A. (2001). How integrating industrial design in the product development process impacts on company performance. *Journal of Product Innovation Management: an International Publication of the Product Development & Management Association*, 18(1), 28-38.
72. Buccafusco, C., Lemley, M. A., & Masur, J. S. (2018). Intelligent design. *Duke LJ*, 68, 75.
73. Gray, B. W. (Ed.). (2020). *Industrial design rights: an international perspective*. Kluwer Law International BV.
74. Dagne, T. W. (2010). Harnessing the development potential of geographical indications for traditional knowledge-based agricultural products. *Journal of Intellectual Property Law & Practice*, 5(6), 441-458.
75. Murray, A. T. (2010). Advances in location modeling: GIS linkages and contributions. *Journal of geographical systems*, 12, 335-354.

76. Murray, A. T. (2010). Advances in location modeling: GIS linkages and contributions. *Journal of geographical systems*, 12, 335-354.
77. Crittenden, W. F., Crittenden, V. L., & Pierpont, A. (2015). Trade secrets: Managerial guidance for competitive advantage. *Business Horizons*, 58(6), 607-613.
78. Brahmi, P., Saxena, S., & Dhillon, B. S. (2004). The protection of plant varieties and farmers' rights act of India. *Current Science*, 86(3), 392-398.
79. Scott, J. M., Davis, F., Csuti, B., Noss, R., Butterfield, B., Groves, C., ... & Wright, R. G. (1993). Gap analysis: a geographic approach to protection of biological diversity. *Wildlife monographs*, 3-41.
80. Hema, K. (2023). Protection of artificial intelligence autonomously generated works under the copyright act, 1957-an analytical study. *Journal of Intellectual Property Rights (JIPR)*, 28(3), 193-199.
81. Shukla, V. (2022). INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS: THE PATENT ACT 1970. *EPRA International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research (IJMR)*, 8(3), 57-60.
82. Banerjee, D. (2021). Trademark Infringement and Passing off: Case Study of the Trademarks Act, 1999. *Law Essentials J.*, 2, 351.
83. Sharma, R., Jaiswal, P., & Adlakha, A. (2011). Industrial design and its importance in success of a product with special reference to the design act, 2000. *Pragyaan: Journal of Law*, 1(1), 17-22.
84. Singh, A. K., Brahmi, P., & Saxena, S. (2007). The Geographical Indications of Goods (Registration and Protection) Act (1999) of India: Implication for Agricultural Goods. *Asian Agri-History*, 11, 253-263.
85. Ott, R. (2004). Protection of Plant Varieties and the Farmer's Rights Act. *Okla. JL & Tech.*, 2, 1.
86. Kalanje, C. M. (2006). Role of intellectual property in innovation and new product development. *World Intellectual Property Organization*.
87. Carlsson, B., Dumitriu, M., Glass, J. T., Nard, C. A., & Barrett, R. (2008). Intellectual property (IP) management: organizational processes and structures, and the role of IP donations. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 33, 549-559.
88. Shavell, S., & Van Ypersele, T. (2001). Rewards versus intellectual property rights. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 44(2), 525-547.
89. Chesbrough, H. (2003). The logic of open innovation: managing intellectual property. *California management review*, 45(3), 33-58.

90. Cullet, P., & Kolluru, R. (2003). Plant Variety Protection and Farmers' Rights. *Towards a broader understanding. International Environmental Law Research Centre, Geneva, Switzerland. Online available at: [http://www. ielrc.org/content/a0304. pdf](http://www.ielrc.org/content/a0304.pdf).*
91. Dhanjee, R., & De Chazournes, L. B. (1990). Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPs): objectives, approaches and basic principles of the GATT and of intellectual property conventions. *Journal of World Trade*, 24(5).
92. Butler, L. J. (2002). Conflicts in intellectual property rights of genetic resources: implications for agricultural biotechnology. In *Economic and social issues in agricultural biotechnology* (pp. 17-29). Wallingford UK: CABI Publishing.
93. Adi, B. (2006). Intellectual Property Rights in Biotechnology and the Fate of Poor Farmers' Agriculture. *The journal of world intellectual property*, 9(1), 91-112.
94. Ilias, S., & Fergusson, I. F. (2009). *Intellectual Property Rights and International Trade* (p. 14). Congressional Research Service.
95. Hovenkamp, H., Janis, M. D., & Lemley, M. A. (2002). Anticompetitive settlement of intellectual property disputes. *Minn. L. Rev.*, 87, 1719.
96. Dufield, G. (1999, June). Intellectual property rights, trade and biodiversity: the case of seeds and plant varieties. In *background paper, IUCN, Intercessional Meeting on the Operations of the Convention, Montreal, Canada* (pp. 28-30).
97. Hamilton, N. D. (2001). Legal issues shaping society's acceptance of biotechnology and genetically modified organisms. *Drake J. Agric. L.*, 6, 81.
98. Donnenwirth, J., Grace, J., & Smith, S. (2004). Intellectual property rights, patents, plant variety protection and contracts. *A perspective from the private sector. IP Strategy Today*, 9, 19-34.
99. Juma, C. (2015). *The new harvest: agricultural innovation in Africa*. Oxford University Press.
100. Spielman, D. J., & Ma, X. (2016). Private sector incentives and the diffusion of agricultural technology: evidence from developing countries. *The journal of development studies*, 52(5), 696-717.
101. Reichman, J. H. (2009). Intellectual property in the twenty-first century: Will the developing countries lead or follow?. *Houston law review/University of Houston*, 46(4), 1115.
102. Tripp, R. (2001). Can biotechnology reach the poor? The adequacy of information and seed delivery. *Food Policy*, 26(3), 249-264.

103. Alemu, G. M. (2016). Intellectual property law and food security policies in Ethiopia. *International food law and policy*, 1137-1180.
104. Rapp, R. T., & Rozek, R. P. (1990). Benefits and costs of intellectual property protection in developing countries. *J. World Trade*, 24, 75.
105. Kuyek, D. (2002). Intellectual property rights in African agriculture: implications for small farmers. *GRAIN Briefing*.
106. Srinivasan, C. S. (2003). Concentration in ownership of plant variety rights: some implications for developing countries. *Food Policy*, 28(5-6), 519-546.
107. Prasad, R., Bagde, U. S., & Varma, A. (2012). An overview of intellectual property rights in relation to agricultural biotechnology. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(73), 13476-13752.
108. Chiarolla, C. (2011). *Intellectual property, agriculture and global food security: The privatisation of crop diversity*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
109. Spielman, D. J., & Ma, X. (2016). Private sector incentives and the diffusion of agricultural technology: evidence from developing countries. *The journal of development studies*, 52(5), 696-717.
110. Naseem, A., Spielman, D. J., & Omamo, S. W. (2010). Private- sector investment in R&D: a review of policy options to promote its growth in developing- country agriculture. *Agribusiness*, 26(1), 143-173.
111. Chawla, H. S. (2007). Managing intellectual property rights for better transfer and commercialization of agricultural technologies.
112. Zilberman, D., Ameden, H., Graff, G., & Qaim, M. (2004). Agricultural biotechnology: productivity, biodiversity, and intellectual property rights. *Journal of Agricultural & Food Industrial Organization*, 2(2).
113. Aguilar, G. (2001). Access to genetic resources and protection of traditional knowledge in the territories of indigenous peoples. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 4(4-5), 241-256.
114. Brush, S. B. (2007). Farmers' rights and protection of traditional agricultural knowledge. *World Development*, 35(9), 1499-1514.
115. Brush, S. B. (2007). Farmers' rights and protection of traditional agricultural knowledge. *World Development*, 35(9), 1499-1514.
116. De Janvry, A., Graff, G., Sadoulet, E., & Zilberman, D. (2005). Technological change in agriculture and poverty reduction: The potential role of

biotechnology. *Agricultural Biodiversity and Biotechnology in Economic Development*, 361-386.

117. Srinivasan, C. S. (2003). Concentration in ownership of plant variety rights: some implications for developing countries. *Food Policy*, 28(5-6), 519-546.

UNDER PEER REVIEW